DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Thesis booklet

MAROUA TALBI

THE DEVELOPMENT OF INTERCULTURAL COMPETENCE IN THE ENGLISH MAJOR PROGRAMMES AT A HUNGARIAN UNIVERSITY: A CASE STUDY

https://doi.org/10.15476/ELTE.2023.196

Doctoral School of Education

Head of the doctoral school: Prof. Dr. Anikó Ravaszné Zsolnai, DSc, habil.

Language Pedagogy PhD Programme

Programme director: Prof. Dr. Krisztina Károly, DSc, habil. Director of studies: Dr. Dorottya Holló, PhD, habil.

Supervisor: Dr. Dorottya Holló, PhD, habil.

Budapest, 2023

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	I
INTRODUCTION	1
THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	2
Culture	2
INTERCULTURAL COMPETENCE	3
TEACHING CULTURE AND IC IN TERTIARY EDUCATION TO ENGLISH MAJOR STUDENTS	5
RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODS	6
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	8
CONCLUSION	18
SUMMARY OF THE FINDINGS	18
QUALITY ASSURANCE AND LIMITATIONS	27
IMPLICATIONS OF THE RESEARCH	28
SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	29
A LIST OF THE PUBLICATIONS CONNECTED TO THE TOPIC OF THE	
DISSERTATION	29
REFERENCES	30

Introduction

In foreign language teaching (FLT), there is a growing push to prepare learners for living in a multicultural world (Aleksandrowicz-Pędich et al., 2003; Menyhei, 2016). As such, the development of communicative competence should go hand-in-hand with the development of *intercultural competence* (IC). Otherwise, foreign language students will become *"fluent fools"* (Bennett, 1993, p. 16) who can speak the target language but are not knowledgeable in regard to relevant cultural contexts and meanings.

The incorporation of IC in language courses is aimed at promoting ethnorelative attitudes, questioning practices and preconceptions that are taken for granted, and acknowledging diversity around the world (Pinto, 2018). According to Byram (1997), the main goal of including IC in language classes is for language users to become intercultural speakers of the target language. The term "intercultural speakers" was introduced to describe interlocutors involved in intercultural interactions who are concerned with the "effective exchange of information and maintenance of human relationships" (Byram, 1997, p. 32). They are also depicted as language users who can interpret events from multiple perspectives, and are willing to learn about and interact with people from different cultures, and possess knowledge regarding the countries of their interlocutors as well as their own.

A number of studies have highlighted the need to include IC development in the training of in-service and pre-service language teachers (Byram et al., 2002; Eken, 2015; Gu, 2016; Han & Song, 2011; Kahraman, 2016; Lázár, 2011; Önalan, 2005; Pinto, 2018; Usó-Juan & Martinez-Flor, 2008; Willems, 2002). Lázár (2006) argued that "developing the knowledge, skills and attitudes that learners need for successful intercultural communication should be first and foremost the task of the language teacher" (p. 220). Therefore, the inclusion of IC development in language courses is crucial for in-service and pre-service language teachers, as they are the ones who will teach future generations of foreign language speakers.

Despite the clear importance of teaching IC, courses with cultural and intercultural content are not always widely offered to students. For example, in his study on the Tunisian context Hermessi (2017) indicated that there was very limited cultural content in teachers' secondary school language books. Such materials may hinder both the development of learners' IC as well as the teachers' ability to implement IC development in their own courses. This study showcases an educational system where IC is not included in teacher training programmes, and this shows how culture and IC development are not part of secondary education. It is likely that this lack of emphasis on the implementation of IC development is due to the fact that IC is not part of the teacher training curriculum at Tunisian universities, since the textbook designers are also EFL teachers. This then suggests that secondary school EFL teachers are not equipped to develop the IC of their students.

This research examines the practices for developing IC in English major programmes at a major Hungarian university with the goal of applying the findings in similar training settings that might be looking into how to develop their English (or other foreign language) major programmes by incorporating the development of IC. In her PhD thesis, Menyhei (2016) maintained that there was a growing interest in teaching and learning IC at Hungarian universities. Therefore, this research is conducted in the Hungarian context to describe and analyse how the IC of future English language professionals is developed in courses at BA, MA, and PhD levels and in the teacher training programme of a major Hungarian university. The second aim of the present research is to identify effective practices for developing the IC of future EFL professionals. To examine the issues raised, this study uses a qualitative case study approach to gain in-depth knowledge about cultural and intercultural courses.

Theoretical background

Culture

In the language learning context, Halverson (1985) points out that culture consists of 'capital C' culture, which encompasses geography and history among other components, and 'small c' culture, which includes the behaviours, values, and customs associated with a given culture. Halverson pointed out that teachers encounter confusion regarding which type of culture should be addressed in the classroom. Kramsch (2013) also acknowledges the role of culture in FLT, supporting Halverson's view regarding the insufficient attention placed on the inclusion of cultural content in FLT and the challenges in defining the concept of culture itself.

Spencer-Oatey (2008) defines culture by highlighting its complexity and its impact on people's behaviours:

a fuzzy set of basic assumptions and values, orientations to life, beliefs, policies, procedures and behavioural conventions that are shared by a group of people, and that influence (but do not determine) each member's behaviour and his/her interpretations of the 'meaning' of other people's behaviour. (p. 3)

Even though there are similarities and regularities across groups, this definition underscores that people who belong to the same cultural group do not usually share the exact same beliefs or orientations toward life. This shows that "there is thus no absolute set of features that can provide a definitive basis for distinguishing one cultural group from another" (p. 4). Since this definition reveals that there is more to developing students' IC than teaching them a list of cultural facts (i.e., big C culture). For this reason, in this research, the definition proposed by Spencer-Oatey (2008) is used since it highlights the complexity of culture and its impact on people's behaviours.

Intercultural competence

Various terms are used in the literature to refer to the phenomenon of understanding different cultures, including one's own, and interacting successfully with people from different cultures. These include intercultural competence (IC) and intercultural communicative competence (ICC), among others. In 1997, Byram highlighted a subtle difference between IC and ICC, defining IC as "the ability to interact in their own language with people from another country and culture, drawing upon their knowledge about intercultural communication, their attitudes of interest in otherness and their skills in interpreting, relating and discovering" (p. 70). He adds that IC also includes "the individual's ability to interpret a translated document from another culture" (p. 71).

Byram further states the following:

Someone with Intercultural Communicative Competence is able to interact with people from another country and culture in a foreign language. They are able to negotiate a mode of communication and interaction which is satisfactory to themselves and the other and they are able to act as mediator between people of different cultural origins. Their knowledge of another culture is linked to their language competence through their ability to use language appropriately sociolinguistic and discourse competence and their awareness of the specific meanings, values and connotations of the language. (p. 71)

Thus, IC encompasses the cognitive, affective, and behavioural dimensions involved in effectively communicating with people from different cultures, whereas ICC is a more focused concept that includes the proficiency of the target language and the ability to be flexible and mediate in intercultural interactions.

Barrett and his colleagues (2014) defined IC as

a combination of attitudes, knowledge, understanding and skills applied through action which enables one, either singly or together with others, to understand and respect people who are perceived to have different cultural affiliations from oneself; respond appropriately, effectively and respectfully when interacting and communicating with such people; establish positive and constructive relationships with such people; understand oneself and one's own multiple cultural affiliations through encounters with cultural difference. (pp. 16–17)

According to them, IC comprises the following components: attitudes of tolerance, respect, openness to, and curiosity about people from other cultures, knowledge and understanding of one's and others' cultures, skills of multiperspectivity, discovery, interpretation, linguistic, sociolinguistic and discourse skills. The last IC component, actions, reflects a seeking out of intercultural interactions and challenging attitudes that go against human rights (see Table 1). The present research uses the widely recognized understanding of the term IC proposed by Barrett and his colleagues (2014) to serve as the basis of this investigation. Furthermore, Barrett and his colleagues' definition of IC is used in this research as it stresses the element of actions, which is not included in other definitions and models in the field of intercultural communication. In light of the aims of the present investigation, this definition and model are also useful as they provide a clear set of criteria for examining the participants' IC.

Table 1

Intercultural Competence (IC)			
Attitudes	Knowledge and	Skills	Actions
	Understanding		
- Respect for cultural	- Awareness of one's	- Skills of multiperspectivity	- Looking for
diversity/multiplicity	own and other		opportunities to interact
	people's prejudices	- Skills in learning new	with people from
- Willingness to learn	and preconceptions	knowledge about other	different cultures
from and about people		people's cultures	
from different cultures	- Awareness that		- Collaborating with
	people from different	- Skills in interpreting other	culturally diverse people
- Willingness to	cultures have different	cultures' practices and	
question practices and	verbal and non-verbal	U	- Discussing differences
behaviours that are	ways of	one's own	with people from
taken for granted	communicating		different cultures,
		- Changing one's own	negotiating a mode of
- Tolerance	- Knowledge of the	thinking and adapting one's	interaction
	beliefs and practices of		~
- Willingness to look for	3	environments	- Challenging behaviours
opportunities for	people		that are against human rights

A Summary of the Intercultural Competence Model by Barrett et al. (2014)

intercultural interactions - Willingness to empathise with people from different cultures	 Understanding that one's language and cultural orientations have an impact on the way one perceives the world Understanding the diversity of cultural groups 	behaviour to the culture in questionSkills to critically evaluate the cultures in question	- Communicating appropriately, effectively, and respectfully with people from different cultures.
		 Acquiring the ability to understand and respond to other people's beliefs and values 	
		– Plurilingual skills	
		 Mediating in intercultural exchanges 	

Teaching culture and IC in tertiary education to English major students

The relevance of IC is demonstrated by the Council of Europe's endeavour to encourage the development of IC at different educational levels. In its White Paper on Intercultural Dialogue, published in 2008, the Council of Europe recognised the role of universities in the development of IC, stating that

[t]he university is ideally defined precisely by its universality – its commitment to openmindedness and openness to the world, founded on enlightenment values. The university thus has great potential to engender "intercultural intellectuals" who can play an active role in the public sphere. (Council of Europe, 2008, p. 31)

The document also places emphasis on the teaching of IC in the framework of teacher training, arguing that "education institutions should make full use of descriptors of key competences for intercultural communication in designing and implementing curricula and study programmes at all levels of education, including teacher training and adult education programmes" (Council of Europe, 2008. p. 43).

In a study examining IC implementation in English language courses, Holló and Lázár (1999) found that most EFL tutors did not integrate ICC in their teaching practice despite stressing its significance in helping students achieve successful intercultural interactions. The authors therefore proposed a number of intercultural activities that did not require extra time or effort but rather careful planning by the teachers. They argued that content-based language development courses that usually aim to develop students' English language skills also present an opportunity for the inclusion of intercultural content. This can be presented through supplementary materials used in addition to coursebooks, such as "worksheets, newspaper & magazine articles, handbooks, EFL books with a cultural focus and videos, etc" (para. 2). The authors also provided a detailed account of how to integrate specific intercultural activities, such as "role play, summarising, interpreting (hidden) meaning, formal and informal speaking and writing, discussions" (para. 3). They also recommended activities such as "socio-cultural comparison and personalisation" (para. 3) which can be effective in fostering students' knowledge of their own culture relative to others.

Research design and methods

This research utilizes an exploratory research design with qualitative methods. Its aim is to analyse how the IC of EFL-speaking English major students is developed at the BA and MA levels, as well as in the teacher training programme at a Hungarian university. Relevant courses from the institute's PhD programme in language education are also included. To reach this purpose, qualitative data were collected by "examining documents, observing behaviours, or interviewing participants" (Creswell, 2014, p. 185). This research was guided by 5 questions as presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Research questions	Data sources/	Methods of
	methods of data	data
	collection	analysis
1., How is intercultural competence development present	- Class observations	Thematic
in the English major programmes of a Hungarian	- Course documents	analysis
university?	(course catalogue,	
	course descriptions	
	and syllabi) for	
	analysis	
	- Course materials	
	to be analysed	

A Summary of the Research Questions and Research Methods

2., What are the considerations behind the inclusion of intercultural competence development in the English major programmes at a Hungarian university?	 Interviews with the course tutors Interviews with the programme leaders 	Thematic analysis
3., How do the tutors involved in the intercultural	- Interviews with	Thematic
competence development of English major students at a	the course tutors	analysis
Hungarian university view the value of their courses?		
4., How do English major students participating in	- Group interviews	Thematic
courses developing intercultural competence at a	with the students	analysis
Hungarian university view the value of their courses?		
5., How does intercultural competence development in	- Group interviews	Thematic
the English major programmes of a Hungarian university	with the students	analysis
contribute to the professional competence of future	- Interviews with	
English language professionals?	the course tutors	
	-Interviews with the	
	programme leaders	

The present research consists of five studies (i.e., Document analysis – Study 1; classroom observation – Study 2; materials analysis – Study 3; interviews with the tutors – Study 4; interviews with the programme leaders – Study 5; group interviews with the students– Study 6). A summary of studies with their purposes and the methods of data collection can be found in Table 3.

Table 3

	To answer	Purpose	Data sources/ Methods of data collection
Study 1	RQ1	- to investigate the way IC development is present in the different English major programmes	- Course documents (course catalogue, course descriptions and syllabi) for analysis
Study 2			- Class observations
Study 3			- Course materials to be analysed
Study 4	RQ2, RQ3, RQ5	- to identify the considerations behind the inclusion of IC development in the English major programmes	Interviews with 9 course tutors

A Summary of the Studies Conducted

		 to examine how tutors involved in IC development at a Hungarian university view the value of their courses to gain knowledge about the influence of the inclusion of cultural and intercultural courses on the students' IC. 	
Study 5	RQ2, RQ5	 to investigate the programme leaders' rationale for the implementation of cultural and IC courses in the English major programmes, to examine the impact of the implementation of cultural and intercultural courses on students' IC from the perspectives of programme leaders. 	Interviews with 12 programme leaders
Study 6	RQ4, RQ5	 to examine how the students in question view their courses which feature cultural and intercultural content, to scrutinise the influence of cultural and intercultural courses on students' IC from the perspectives of the students. 	11 Group interviews with the students

Results and discussion

Study 1 examined how the promotion of IC was present in courses offered by the different English major programmes based on the analysis of the course catalogue, course descriptions, and course syllabi. The findings of this study partially answered to RQ 1: How is intercultural competence development present in the English major programmes of a Hungarian university?

The findings suggest that at the time of the data collection the institute offered a relatively low percentage of the courses with explicit cultural and intercultural content. Since it is important to prepare students to live in a globalized world and interact effectively with people from various cultures, more emphasis should be placed on including cultural and intercultural content in the courses offered by the English language programmes. Based on Barrett and his colleagues' (2014) model of IC, the courses in question aimed to broaden students' knowledge about specific cultures and their understanding of the beliefs, practices, and values of those cultures as they learned, for example, about American values or the cultural products of Australian Aborigines. The results also suggest that by learning about British stereotypes, students could develop intercultural attitudes of challenging their stereotypes. Furthermore, other courses aimed to develop students' intercultural communication skills. It is worth mentioning that not all courses explicitly presented the aspects of IC that they aimed to address.

The examination of the syllabi of the courses examined showed that the tutors used certain themes to make the aims of the courses more concrete. The analysis of the detailed descriptions showed that the tutors were very much aware of what they wanted to achieve in the courses as well as how they wanted to achieve it. The results suggested that the courses had very specific aims which were achieved by focusing on different facets of culture. It was found that courses in each programme had a different focus regarding the development of the students' IC. Courses in the BA programme that were examined in this research presented an introduction to IC by familiarizing students with English-speaking culture(s). In the second phase, which is the MA programme, it was hoped that students who attended the course "Skills for intercultural communication" could develop an understanding of the impact of culture on communication and question their own communicative behaviours by learning about intercultural communication in business settings. The course entitled "Intercultural communication studies: Concepts, theories and research" aims to have a positive impact on fostering students' theoretical knowledge about IC as well as their verbal and non-verbal communication across cultures. The courses examined in the doctoral programme explored research approaches for investigating IC in different contexts. Based on the themes presented in the course syllabi, the course "EFL for intercultural competence" in the teacher training programme aimed to provide pre-service teachers with knowledge on how to include aspects of IC in their teaching practice. The results also suggested an aim to improve future teachers' knowledge about the target culture(s). For example, by learning about British stereotypes students were encouraged to challenge their own assumptions. Even though the scope of each programme is different, the course tutors took the students' IC development into consideration.

Study 2 (i.e., the classroom observations) provided answers to RQ1: How is intercultural competence development present in the English major programmes of a Hungarian university?

The findings showed that the intercultural content of the observed courses centred around Englishspeaking cultures such as the UK, USA, Canada, and Australia. The topics included myths, the colonization of Australia, British stereotypes, British and American beliefs, verbal communication, values of English-speaking cultures, and multiculturalism in Australia and how it is viewed by Australians, among many others. It was found that the courses aimed to develop students' IC by comparing their own cultures and the target cultures. In some courses, the tutor focused on the students' home culture by asking them, for example, to create presentations about their country of origin. As a result, students were able to learn about unfamiliar cultures and discover similarities between their own culture and others, thus developing their cultural knowledge. This also gave students the chance to challenge and question their existing stereotypes.

The activities were mainly group and pair activities which took place in face-to-face courses that stimulated cooperation among the students. Some activities were aimed at helping students experience cultural diversity, which can contribute to enhancing their interpretive skills and attitudes of acceptance. Another activity that encouraged students to ask questions was reflecting on their intercultural misunderstandings. This likely helped students to reflect on their behaviour, question their taken-for-granted actions, and understand other's points of view. Role-plays were also used in most of the observed courses which appeared to be engaging as well as enjoyable to the students. Such activities seemed to foster students' ability to adopt the perspectives of others. In addition, role plays were used in one of the observed courses to examine and challenge behaviours that violate human rights. This aimed to raise the students' awareness of racism in their own country as well as others. In the courses in the teacher training programme, the teacher trainees were required to take part in peer teaching sessions and design activities in the form of role plays and presentations. However, these student presentations covered only the surface level of culture, for example by describing social classes in Britain without explaining their significance; such activities did not offer students an opportunity to develop their intercultural skills, actions, or knowledge of the underlying values. Although the students' IC did not seem to have been fostered in such cases, these experiences may have proved useful as they encouraged students to include aspects of culture and IC into their teaching practice. The role plays provided students with an opportunity to experience other cultures. It was also found that during role plays, students at times asked how they should behave in certain settings, which suggested the development of students' awareness of acceptable behaviours in specific situations.

Furthermore, study 3 presented answers RQ 1 through the analysis of course materials. The results suggest that the tutors used a variety of course materials, including course books, articles, documentaries, videos, books and book chapters, and literature. The topics and themes that were discussed in these materials were in line with the course aims in the case of most of the courses. For instance, the readings about different American values appeared to develop students' knowledge of this aspect of American culture, which could help them challenge their stereotypes and show a greater understanding of characteristic American behaviours. Furthermore, internalizing different sets of values can promote acceptance and openness to diversity, which is an important part of IC. In most courses, aspects of big C and small c culture were included in the readings, and consequently in the classroom. The readings dealt with a variety of cultures, including both English-speaking cultures such as Great Britain and non-English speaking contexts such as Central Europe. It is crucial for English language graduates to possess diverse cultural knowledge, as many of them will proceed to work in international settings, whether teaching in international schools or working in international companies. Therefore, acquiring at least some knowledge about different countries can lead to more successful intercultural interactions. The development of students' knowledge can potentially increase their openness to and curiosity about other cultures, while also making them more tolerant to ambiguous situations. Moreover, students' intercultural skills seemed to be promoted through the development of their intercultural knowledge. For example, the students learned about the different cultural dimensions and their impact on cultural practices and behaviours. This understanding could lead to the development of skills such as cognitive flexibility, multiperspectivity and interpreting cultural practices.

In other courses, the readings encouraged future English language teachers to integrate IC into their teaching practice in accordance with the aims of the course. The results also showed that in the doctoral courses the students' knowledge of how to include IC in language courses was enhanced through exposure to a number of articles that addressed this issue. This can be argued to be particularly important for doctoral students considering their potential future capacities as researchers and lecturers sharing knowledge and educating on the topic of IC. The students also

developed their knowledge of cultural diversity: students read about different national and ethnic contexts which could potentially lead to greater openness to learning about other people and cultures.

Study 4 contributed to answering three research questions (i.e., RQ 2, RQ 3, RQ 5) from the perspectives of the course tutors. RQ 2: What are the considerations behind the inclusion of intercultural competence development in the English major programmes at a Hungarian university?

The findings of this study present the tutors' reasons for including IC development in their English language courses. The course aims reflected the tutors' views about the importance of promoting students' IC. Specifically, these aims were to develop students' knowledge about the target cultures (i.e., British culture, American culture, and Australian culture) and their own cultures, their intercultural skills, and the actions component of IC suggested by Barrett and his colleagues (2014). One tutor wanted to help students create their own voice instead of imitating native speakers, which is important for successful intercultural interactions. Another aim that was mentioned was the creation of opportunities for students to interact with different cultures, which aligns with the actions component proposed by Barrett and his colleagues (2014). These aims suggest that the tutors found it crucial for students to look beyond culture at the surface level. Furthermore, the tutors wanted students to develop the capacity to question the stereotypes that they hold and develop an awareness of cultural diversity through discussing different cultures. Moreover, courses in the teacher training programme aimed to boost teacher trainees' skills in implementing IC development in their future courses.

Study 4 also provided answers to RQ 3: How do the tutors involved in the intercultural competence development of English major students at a Hungarian university view the value of their courses?

The results of the interviews with the tutors indicated that they valued the development of their students' IC. This was further confirmed by their classroom practices, which reflected their commitment to incorporating the promotion of IC in their courses. It was found that the tutors included cultural and intercultural aspects in their lessons; for example, in their courses, many tutors integrated aspects of both small c culture and big C culture (i.e., the cultures of English-speaking countries and students' countries, stereotypes, and intercultural experience). Furthermore, in many courses students' home cultures were compared to British or American culture, which

seemed to raise their awareness of cultural multiplicity. Students at this level of education were expected to be able to discuss underlying cultural values. This seemed to help them understand that the way people behave in a given culture can be explained by hidden variables. By gaining a better understanding of the underlying values and meanings that shape behaviors and actions, students could become more tolerant to unexpected behaviors.

The tutors used various materials to implement IC development in their lessons, including textbooks and videos. The use of supplementary materials such as authentic items from the target culture(s) reflected the positive views of the tutors towards contributing to the IC development of the students in their courses. For instance, many tutors utilized cultural products from the target culture, such as poems and plays written by Australian Aboriginals. These materials could contribute to the development of students' knowledge about the target culture, and in this specific example it gave students the opportunity to understand Australian history from the perspectives of Australian Aborigines.

The activities used by the course tutors included role-plays, discussions, and debates through which they explored issues related to the target culture(s). These interactive tasks seemed to help the students understand other cultural perspectives, which consequently could encourage them to become more open and show more acceptance of different behaviours through experiencing behaviours other than their own. Among these activities, the course tutors had their students share an object or photo representing their culture to the class in order to facilitate discussion and understanding of different cultures. According to Barrett and his colleagues' (2014) model, this particular activity could promote various aspects of IC. These include 1.) developing awareness of one's own culture through deciding on a culturally characteristic item, 2.) enhancing other students' knowledge about unfamiliar cultures and 3.) encouraging discussion on cultural differences and similarities.

This study also provided answers to RQ 5: How does intercultural competence development in the English major programmes of a Hungarian university contribute to the professional competence of future English language professionals?

The results showed that the inclusion of different aspects of IC through the various activities and materials chosen by the tutors could lead to the promotion of students' intercultural attitudes, such as openness and the willingness to challenge their existing stereotypes through learning about the

underlying values that shape behaviours. On many occasions, the intercultural clashes that students shared encouraged them to think about their own and others' behaviour and explain intercultural situations objectively. Moreover, through learning about these incidents other students appeared to develop the skills needed to behave appropriately and effectively with people from a given culture by listening carefully and attempting to determine the root of the misunderstanding. This intercultural content enhanced students' knowledge of cultural diversity, which had the potential to promote their intercultural multiperspectivity as well as their skills in interpreting cultural practices. Furthermore, the tutors emphasised that drawing cultural comparisons could increase the students' knowledge of various cultures. This was not limited to English-speaking cultures, but also the cultures of the students such as Japan, Albania, Turkey, as well as other cultures. The integration of these aspects of IC development was particularly significant in English major programmes for a number of reasons. Many of those who graduate the programme in question will be English language and culture tutors, and will have the opportunity to include culture and IC in their classes. Others may go on to work for corporations, which in today's world are oftentimes characterized by internationalism, meaning that workers in these companies will likely have to communicate in a multicultural setting.

Study 5 provided answers to RQ 2: What are the considerations behind the inclusion of intercultural competence development in the English major programmes at a Hungarian university? The semi-structured interviews with the programme leaders indicated that they all articulated the importance of promoting IC in the English major programmes. They acknowledged the need to include intercultural content in the programme courses to develop students' IC (e.g., tolerance, openness, and skills of negotiating) and facilitate interaction between people from different cultures. They also referred to the international atmosphere on campus and helping students to have successful intercultural interactions. Highlighting the reasons above showed that the programme leaders were aware of the importance of IC. It was also found that the university supported culture and intercultural courses. This was best seen on the website of the Department of English Language Pedagogy of the university in question, a statement was written to ensure that employees in this department respected others regardless of their cultural background. This was also reflected in the growing number of international students applying to this university. Furthermore, many courses with cultural and intercultural content were taught at different levels, namely the teacher training

programme and at BA, MA, and PhD levels. It can be concluded that those interviewed believed that having interculturally competent graduates was valuable in general.

This study also contributed to answer RQ 5: How does intercultural competence development in the English major programmes of a Hungarian university contribute to the professional competence of future English language professionals?

The interviews with the programme leaders showed that the inclusion of courses with cultural and intercultural content raised pre-service tutors' knowledge on how to integrate interculturality into their own future courses. This was supported by a programme leader who observed how this knowledge was manifested in the students' teaching practice. Other programme leaders expressed their hopes that the integration of interculturality into the different programmes would contribute to the development of students' IC. As the development of IC is a long process, it was difficult to determine the impact that the programmes efforts had on the students, and one programme could not develop all aspects of IC. Therefore, the findings suggested that their aim was to raise students' understanding of cultural diversity and multiperspectivity. They also sought to enhance students' critical evaluation capacities in order for them to acquire further intercultural skills. In addition, they referred to the development of students' intercultural attitudes, including openness and tolerance. It was stated that these aspects were addressed explicitly in some English programmes, specifically in those courses which contained intercultural content. Since these facets of culture were addressed explicitly, it could be assumed that students experienced development in regard to these aspects.

The objective of **Study 6** provided answers in regard to RQ 4: How do English major students participating in courses developing intercultural competence at a Hungarian university view the value of their courses?

The findings showed that the respondents expressed varying views about the courses through the mixed feedback that they provided in the interviews. In terms of features, the fact that the tutors relied on pair and group work was viewed positively by the students. This made them more willing to participate in class and express their opinions. They also referred to the tutor's knowledge about the target culture, which they believed could positively influence their own knowledge. They also enjoyed having native English speakers as their tutors, which seemed to help them better compare the cultures in question and discover similarities and differences between cultures. In addition, they

remarked positively on the use of authentic materials such as drawings in the course "Australian Aboriginal issues". Materials such as these were used to complement the main readings and aimed to raise the interviewees' knowledge about products from the target culture. It could be assumed that such activities made the participants more curious to learn about cultural products as they have been previously unfamiliar with them. The international atmosphere of many of the classrooms was also identified as a positive feature of some of the courses. This could help respondents develop their intercultural attitudes, specifically their tolerance and acceptance of those from other cultures through learning about and from their culturally diverse classmates. However, some courses were criticized for having negative features, such as a lack of discussion and in-depth analysis, which according to the respondents did not improve their IC as they were not able to examine the underlying values and beliefs associated with a given figure or a practice.

Many of the respondents expressed a preference to learn about debatable topics such as the refugee situation in Australia. Due to the documentaries the interviewees seemed to develop empathy by gaining a comprehensive understanding of the challenges faced by refugees or Australian Natives. Topics such as active listening and cultural dimensions were valued. By listening actively to their interlocutors, students can focus on the perspectives of others. In addition, discussing cultural dimensions appears to foster students' awareness of the impact of values on people's cultural practices. The interviewees also enjoyed topics related to big C culture which could promote their knowledge about the target culture.

The participants showed less interest in learning about the literature and art of the target culture. However, these topics were often relevant to the given course and aimed to develop the interviewees' knowledge about the target culture, such as the poems written by Australian Aborigines. They also showed negative attitudes towards learning newly created words from the Oxford dictionary. Although the respondents did not enjoy this activity, as English language students, it potentially played an important role in developing their English language vocabulary. In addition, the development of the students' linguistic competence could facilitate their communication with British people.

The interviewees expressed their views about the class activities. One activity they appreciated was the use of videos: watching videos featuring cultural and intercultural content appeared to develop the participants' intercultural attitudes, knowledge, and skills. For example,

by watching documentaries about Indigenous Australians, the interviewees could familiarize themselves with the difficulties Aborigines experienced, which could develop their empathy. They also enjoyed debates and role-plays, which had the potential to cultivate their empathy and enhance their willingness to express their perspectives. In addition, they highlighted that simulating intercultural clashes had a positive influence on their IC development, encouraging them to question behaviours which may be taken for granted and withholding their prejudgments. The participants were also fond of the presentations about their own cultures that they were assigned, as well as the activity which required them to bring an object to class which represents their culture. These types of activities were able to raise their awareness about their own culture and introduce them to other cultures that might be unfamiliar to them.

Although interviewees' views towards watching videos were positive overall, a few of them complained about the lack of subtitles, citing their unfamiliarity with British or Australian accents. Including subtitles could improve the development of their English language proficiency and vocabulary knowledge, which is a part of IC development. Another activity that the participants criticised was the language activities included in their activity handout sheet, which they considered irrelevant considering that the overall aim of the course was to foster their knowledge about British culture. However, promoting the students' linguistic competence is important as it can improve their abilities to communicate with the target culture. Some interviewees also criticised the presentations delivered by their classmates, claiming that they were over-reliant on surface-level facts and lacked deeper analysis of cultural issues. As such, this activity did not sufficiently engage the respondents' critical evaluation skills or develop their knowledge. Furthermore, although one interviewee complained about activities which featured comparisons between different cultures, such activities appeared to develop students' awareness of cultural diversity and encourage them to challenge their stereotypes.

The respondents expressed mixed views about the materials used in the courses. Documentaries were identified by the interviewees as useful materials. For example, documentaries about indigenous people which presented and discussed real life events could raise their awareness about the target people and facilitate the development of their empathy towards native people. Generally speaking, the participants had positive attitudes towards audio-visual materials as they presented a more engaging alternative to reading texts. Nevertheless, they also appreciated certain readings which they believed to be relevant. The participants also endorsed the books used in the courses "American culture" and "Skills for intercultural communication" due to their simple and reader-friendly language which encouraged them to engage with the texts. Nonetheless, reading texts of varying difficulty is a skill that is important for students to practice, as many important cultural concepts are presented and explained in books.

Study 6 also answered RQ 5: How does intercultural competence development in the English major programmes of a Hungarian university contribute to the professional competence of future English language professionals?

This study examined the impact that the observed courses had on the development of the students' IC from the students' own perspectives. The students explained the ways in which the courses featuring culture and intercultural content were beneficial to them. All the respondents highlighted beneficial effects that the courses had on the development of their knowledge about their own culture and the cultures of others. They also gained insight into the differences and similarities between cultures, including their own. In regard to the intercultural attitudes of the interviewees, the results showed that the courses appeared to have a positive impact on the students' intercultural attitudes. Many of the interviewees believed that the courses they attended increased the extent to which they respect different cultures, value cultural diversity, and show tolerance; such developments can occur through learning about the underlying values that shape people's behaviours and also by being exposed to different perspectives and experiences in the classroom. As some of the courses examined the sources of stereotypes, the interviewees were also encouraged to question the practices and behaviours that might have been taken for granted. The tutors appeared to develop their students' intercultural skills, including the ability to critically evaluating cultures, by encouraging them to ask questions and practice active and careful listening. The development of such skills is of great importance to successful intercultural interaction between members of any culture.

Conclusion

Summary of the findings

The first aim of this research was to describe and analyse how the IC of English major students is developed in courses at the BA, MA, and PhD levels as well as in the teacher training

programme of a Hungarian university, while the second aim was to identify good practices for developing the IC of future EFL professionals to be used in other contexts.

RQ 1: How is intercultural competence development present in the English major programmes of a Hungarian university?

This research question was answered with the help of three studies: the document analysis of the course descriptions and syllabi, the analysis of teaching materials (i.e., those provided by the tutors as well as student presentations), and the classroom observations of 14 courses in the different programmes.

The findings indicated that the percentage of courses in the programmes which included cultural and intercultural content was relatively low. Considering the importance of intercultural communication in the globalized world, more emphasis should be placed on incorporating cultural and intercultural content into the English language programmes to provide students with the skills they need to engage in successful interactions with those from different cultures. The analysis of the course catalogue showed that there were a number of courses that aimed to foster the students' knowledge about specific cultures. For example, some courses included information about American values and Aboriginals' cultural products, while others sought to develop students' intercultural attitudes through teaching them about British stereotypes and encouraging them to challenge their own preconceptions. Other courses aimed at enhancing particular intercultural skills. It was found that the course syllabi of the courses examined presented the topics and approaches which would be used to achieve the given aims. The results also suggested that a few of the course descriptions contained an anti-discrimination statement, which reflected the cultural approaches taken by several of the tutors to promote respect for people of different cultures.

It was found that the observed courses with cultural and intercultural content had different foci in terms of the promotion of the students' IC. The BA courses that were examined in this research could be considered as an introductory phase during which students' awareness about cultural diversity is raised and the cultures of English-speaking countries are highlighted. The courses examined in the MA programme, as exemplified by the course "Skills for intercultural communication", helped students realise the importance of IC in corporate settings and contributed to the development of the skills needed to help ensure for successful intercultural interactions. Moreover, the course "Intercultural communication studies: Concepts, theories and research" appeared to have a positive impact on developing students' theoretical knowledge about IC and about verbal and non-verbal communication across cultures. The focus of the courses examined in the doctoral programme was somewhat different, as it seemed to be more aimed at developing students' skills and knowledge as researchers in the field of intercultural communication through the readings they were assigned. In the teacher training programme, the focus of the courses examined was placed on American or British culture. Furthermore, based on the themes presented in the course syllabi, the course "EFL for intercultural competence" aimed to provide pre-service teachers with knowledge of how to implement aspects of IC into their teaching practice. Although the scope of each programme is different, the course tutors took the students' IC development into consideration.

The course observations (Study 2) found that the intercultural content in all of the observed courses focused mainly on English-speaking cultures, which was obvious as the courses were part of English major programmes. The course sought to promote students' knowledge about aspects related to big C and small c culture by learning about the values of English-speaking cultures, perceptions of multiculturalism and immigration, and the practices and cultural products of different cultural contexts among many other topics. The results also suggested that in most of the courses the students were encouraged to compare the cultural products, values, and behaviours that they learned about in connection with the target cultures with their own home cultures. This could encourage them to potentially challenge their stereotypes and develop skills of multiperspectivity through enhancing the scope of their intercultural knowledge.

The results suggested that the topics covered were diverse, touching on a number of areas of culture (i.e., history, politics, climate, literature, soap operas, TV, values, and customs, among many others). Despite their wide spectrum, all of the topics could potentially contribute by providing students with insights into different facets of culture and interculturality. Reviewing these cultural aspects served to develop students' knowledge of the ethnic diversity in the US, promote their intercultural skills, and familiarise them with aspects of Australian culture, among many other outcomes. These aims were established in order to develop specific elements of IC which could come together to form the students' overall IC.

The courses were characterised by pair and group activities which encouraged students to interact with one another and discuss the topics raised during the courses. This interaction provided

an environment in which students could deepen their understanding of relevant issues. Verbalising their ideas through group interaction was also instrumental in helping them to consolidate the ideas presented in the course. Several of the courses observed featured students from different cultures. This diverse setting gave students the opportunity to experience cultural diversity and develop intercultural attitudes such as acceptance of and respect for others. Many tutors relied on role-plays which – as an activity requiring active and committed participation – could be useful in promoting students' IC. This activity contributed to the development of their ability to adopt the perspectives of others and understand different points of view. An activity that was specifically used in the few courses with cultural and intercultural content in the teacher training programme was peer teaching. These sessions could be considered crucial for pre-service teachers as they provided them with knowledge on how to incorporate culture and interculturality into their future courses. During these sessions the students were tasked with teaching each other, with many of them utilising motivating activities such as role plays aimed at developing intercultural awareness. Consequently, the peer teaching sessions presented pre-service teachers with an opportunity to learn how to implement and create activities and materials which can be used to promote IC development. The doctoral courses were characterised by group discussions which covered different aspects of IC research. Participants in these courses found such discussions to be particularly useful for their own research. The topics in the doctoral courses varied, including both theoretical and empirical readings. This helped to familiarise students with the theoretical aspects of IC, but also to learn how to examine its elements as a researcher, as many of them were investigating culture-related topics for their dissertations.

The findings of the materials analysis (Study 3) showed that the courses included a variety of materials to support the development of students' IC such as documentaries, book chapters, course books, and videos. It was found that the materials contributed to the development of various aspects of IC, such as learning about the values of the English-speaking cultures. The teaching materials also encouraged students to learn to challenge their stereotypes, which could help them develop a greater sense of understanding when interacting with people from different cultures. Furthermore, the results suggested that other cultures besides English speaking-cultures, such as European cultures were presented and described in the materials. This was of great importance to the students, many of whom are likely considering pursuing careers in international contexts. In the teacher training programme, some of the readings equipped trainees with knowledge on how

to implement interculturality in their future language courses through examining the activities and materials that could be used in the classroom to develop students' IC. The results also showed that the doctoral courses enhanced students' knowledge of how to incorporate IC into language courses; this is notably important for doctoral students who may go on work as researchers or lecturers in the field of IC. This also revealed how language and culture can be integrated regardless of the major focus of a course.

RQ 2: What are the considerations behind the inclusion of intercultural competence development in the English major programmes at a Hungarian university?

The above research question was addressed through the interviews conducted with course tutors and programme leaders (Studies 4 and 5, respectively). The results of the semi-structured interviews with the course tutors (Study 4) pinpointed their reasons for integrating IC content in their courses. The tutors aimed to develop their students' intercultural attitudes, such as openness and appreciation of cultural diversity. Furthermore, they sought to enhance students' awareness about their own culture as well as about English-speaking culture(s). In addition to improving students' intercultural skills to ensure successful intercultural interaction, tutors also made efforts to create opportunities in which students could interact with those from other cultures. The tutors also highlighted the importance of incorporating IC development in the English language programmes as a means to help students become intercultural speakers, as suggested by (Byram, 1997). The implementation of IC content in some courses in the teacher training programme aimed at boosting the teacher trainees' skills in regard to the implementation of IC development in their future courses. These aims reflected the tutor's beliefs on the importance of looking beyond the surface level of culture. Furthermore, they showed their commitment to empowering their students to question their stereotypes and develop an awareness of cultural diversity through discussing various aspects of different cultures.

The results of the interviews with the programme leaders (Study 5) showcased an emphasis on the incorporation of IC development in the English major programmes, which they indicated would enhance students' tolerance of uncertainty and openness towards interaction with people from other cultures. Other reasons mentioned for the implementation of IC in English language courses was the creation of an international atmosphere on campus and the promotion of students' successful intercultural interactions.

RQ 3: How do the tutors involved in the intercultural competence development of English major students at a Hungarian university view the value of their courses?

The findings of the interviews with the course tutors (Study 4) suggest that the course tutors valued the promotion of students' IC. This was best reflected in the course objectives that were intentionally designed with the development of IC in mind. The course aims included aspects of IC such as stereotypes, literature, politics, internal diversity among cultures, and communication in English-speaking cultures.

It was also found that the tutors relied on different types of media for their teaching materials to develop IC in their courses, including readings and videos. Videos were included as tutors noticed that students were notably disinterested in reading books and articles and that the use of diverse materials was welcomed. The use of videos enabled students to better focus on the course content and consequently learn more. Other supplementary materials such as authentic cultural products from the target culture(s) were used which reflected the positive views of the tutors toward contributing to the development of the students' IC in their courses. In one of the courses, the tutor included poems written by indigenous people. The use of such materials appeared to promote the students' awareness about the history and language of the given culture. The course tutors used activities such as debates, discussions, and role-plays to promote students' IC, which potentially cultivated students' attitudes of openness and encouraged them to show their acceptance to other perspectives. The students were also asked to bring a picture or an object to class which represented their own culture and explain its relevance. This activity developed students' knowledge about their own culture and others. The mentioned activities and the supplementary materials that were used showed that the tutors attached great importance to the development of the students' IC in their courses.

RQ 4: How do English major students participating in courses developing intercultural competence at a Hungarian university view the value of their courses?

The findings of the group interviews with the students (Study 6) showed that the interviewees had mixed attitudes towards the examined courses. A number of positive aspects were mentioned, such as the knowledge provided by the course tutor that raised their awareness of some

of the racist expressions that the students had previously used unintentionally. They also praised the use of cultural products which seemed to develop their knowledge of the target cultures. Another positive feature that was mentioned by the participants was having a native speaker of English as their tutor. This reportedly helped them compare different cultures and question practices which students may have taken for granted. However, there were some courses that the students criticised due to their lack of insightful analysis of the underlying values influencing the behaviours or practices discussed in class.

The results indicated that many respondents valued topics concerning related to refugees or Indigenous people, which could help them to empathise with the given target culture and understand different perspectives of particular social issues. Other topics which were mentioned in a positive light included active listening and cultural dimensions. By listening actively to their interlocutors, students can focus on the perspectives of others. Furthermore, some respondents criticised vocabulary development exercises, stating that the courses should be focused solely on cultural topics. However, it should be noted that the development of the students' English vocabulary could facilitate their communication with native English speakers.

In relation to the activities used in the classroom, one activity that received positive feedback from the participants was role-plays. Role-plays were an effective way to encourage empathy among students. They also enjoyed simulating intercultural clashes as it helped them reflect on their behaviour and develop their interpreting skills. They also identified watching videos, even for homework, as one of their favourite classroom activities, finding them to be more engaging than other materials. Based on their knowledge of these sentiments, the tutors included videos both in class and as homework. These videos were especially beneficial if they included cultural or intercultural content. For example, by watching documentaries about Native Australians, the students could better understand the difficulties they experienced, which could enhance their sense of empathy.

One group of interviewed students were critical of the presentations delivered by their classmates, which they claimed simply included facts which could be gathered from Wikipedia. The respondents were not satisfied with the final product, claiming that critical evaluation skills and knowledge were not developed. It was also found that the interviewees held mixed views about the materials used in class. They agreed that they found the documentaries to be interesting; these

could be particularly useful when talking about historical events as the films could develop students' knowledge about the history of a given culture and enhance their willingness to empathise with the target culture.

Overall, the students provided positive feedback about their courses with cultural and intercultural content, and all of them articulated the importance of learning about different cultures. For example, the students in the teacher training programme expressed their intention to pursue careers as teachers of English language and culture. They highlighted that it was important to develop their IC in order to be able to include aspects of interculturality in their future courses. Other students acknowledged the role that being interculturally competent plays in successful intercultural interactions. The significance of IC was also reflected in the materials and activities that they suggested, such as role-plays and watching videos from the target culture. This showed an appreciation for cooperation and an awareness of the important impact that the use of cultural products has on the development of attitudes towards and knowledge of IC.

RQ 5: How does intercultural competence development in the English major programmes of a Hungarian university contribute to the professional competence of future English language professionals?

This research question is addressed using the findings of the interview studies with the course tutors and the programme leaders (Studies 4 and 5, respectively) as well as the group interviews with the students (Study 6). The interviews with the tutors indicated that the aspects of IC incorporated in the topics, materials, and activities included in their courses contributed to the development of students' IC. For instance, the tutors expressed their aims to promote critical attitudes among students (i.e., questioning their stereotypes and acceptance of other cultures) through learning about the underlying values that shape people's behaviours. In addition, the tutors asked students to share intercultural clashes that they had experienced in the past, an activity which encouraged them to think about their own and others' behaviour in order to explain the situation objectively. Students could learn valuable lessons by listening to and examining the experiences of their peers, such as how to behave in certain situations or what skills are needed to engage in a successful interaction. Intercultural content such as the example above have the potential to promote intercultural multiperspectivity and skills in interpreting others' practices. Another activity type that could promote students' IC was comparing different cultures. This activity was

used to enhance students' knowledge of their own cultures and those of others. In the courses of the teacher training programme, the tutors aimed to help the future teachers learn approaches for the incorporation of IC aspects in their future English language courses. The peer teaching sessions and the information presented regarding aspects of British and American culture contributed to the achievement of that aim. Instead of working in secondary schools, students from the culture-related courses of other programmes will likely work at international companies after graduating, and this career path was considered in their courses. For example, in some courses students were introduced to the conduct that would be expected at a multicultural international corporation.

The findings of the interviews with the programme leaders (Study 5) suggests that the inclusion of courses with cultural and intercultural content raised pre-service tutors' knowledge of how to integrate interculturality in their future courses. One programme leader witnessed how some pre-service tutors were already incorporating aspects of IC into their teaching practice. Moreover, they also expressed their hopes that the integration of IC development in the English programmes would produce interculturally competent graduates. It is difficult to determine just how interculturally competent students are after they finish the programme, as there are many factors beyond the university context that can contribute to or hinder the development of students' IC. Nonetheless, the findings suggest that the programme leaders aspired to raise students' understanding of cultural diversity and multiperspectivity. They also aimed to develop students' critical evaluation skills and also sought to enhance intercultural attitudes such as openness and tolerance in students. It was stated that these aspects were addressed explicitly in some English programmes, especially in the courses which were centred on intercultural content. Since such content was explicitly included, it could be assumed that emphasis was placed on the development of these intercultural aspects.

The findings of the group interviews with the students (Study 6) reflected the positive impact that the content from the observed courses had on the development of students' IC. All the respondents said that their knowledge about their own and other cultures developed as a result of the courses they attended. Regarding their intercultural attitudes, the courses that the interviewees enrolled in potentially helped cultivate their respect for different cultures, value cultural diversity, and show greater tolerance in unfamiliar situations through learning about the role of culture in shaping people's behaviours. The intercultural skills of the students appeared to develop as a result

of the knowledge gained from their courses; for example, they learned about the significance of asking questions as well as active and careful listening to ensure successful intercultural interaction.

Quality assurance and limitations

A number of limitations should be highlighted in connection to this research. The present research utilised an exploratory research design and qualitative methodology, meaning that the results cannot and should not be generalised. Regardless, measures were taken to ensure the transferability of the results. One such measure was triangulation, which made use of the many different perspectives considered in the research. As such, the data collected from the course tutors, students, and programme leaders were presented and compared alongside the observations and readings to further explain the findings. Furthermore, in the process of data analysis, the categories created when working with the verbal data were checked by a doctoral candidate to ensure reliability. The credibility of the studies was also ensured through member checking. The transcripts were sent to the interviewees to verify and review what they said during the interview.

The current research was limited to courses which featured cultural and intercultural content. It was planned to examine how interculturality is presented in content-based language development courses. However, this was not possible due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic situation on teaching; due to the stressful situation surrounding the pandemic, tutors who were not teaching culture-related subjects were hesitant to allow classroom observations. Examining such courses would have yielded rich data regarding the tutors' motivation to integrate IC into their courses, as the main focus of these courses is usually not on developing students' IC.

Another limitation related to the Covid-19 pandemic was its effect on the learning and teaching process in Hungary, and thus on the present research. The modality of these courses changed from face-to-face classes to lessons via online platforms, which meant that not all courses were synchronous. As a result, the observation of such courses was not possible. This resulted in the lack of the student perspectives for some courses as well, since they refused to participate in this research.

Another limitation does not concern the effectiveness of the research methods or the transferability of the results, but rather relates to the integration of IC development into different courses. The 16 courses considered in this dissertation only represent a small minority of the courses that the institute in question provides. On average, around 430 courses are offered in a

given semester. While there are a few more courses that could have been included in this research but were not due to the lack of time, it is clear that the development of students' IC is not the first priority of this institute. Although they are not a model institution in this regard, they are in the process of building up and improving the integration of IC development into a number of courses at all levels, from BA to PhD programmes. As this research found, these efforts have yielded promising results, and the need for the inclusion of IC at this institution is now well established as confirmed by the interviews with the programme leaders. With this in mind, the limitation that IC development represents a small part of the institution's activities, serves as evidence that it is feasible to initiate this innovation on a small scale and gradually expand it to higher levels and in more courses.

Implications of the research

The results of the present research yield considerable implications related to English language pedagogy in terms of effective teaching activities, critical thinking, inclusive teaching, learner autonomy, and transferability of practices to other institutions. Firstly, this research identified some of the effective teaching activities used by the interviewed tutors and valued by the students which have the potential to foster students' IC. These include watching documentaries about indigenous people, participating in debates and role plays, and sharing experiences of intercultural clashes. Teachers are not limited to the activities examined but can also create other impactful tasks beyond the scope of this dissertation which can be used in different cultural contexts. Secondly, as shown by the results, some of the courses with cultural and intercultural content encouraged critical thinking by encouraging students to reflect on the source of their stereotypes and challenge their own preconceptions. Consequently, students appeared to develop the capacity to withhold prejudgements and examine cultural differences objectively. Thirdly, this research could foster inclusive teaching by encouraging the promotion of IC to initiate changes in the courses of the various English language programmes in order to answer the needs of students from different cultural backgrounds. As revealed in this research, inclusive education can enhance students' empathy and cultivate a greater understanding of other cultures. By acknowledging and appreciating cultural diversity and using some of the practices described in this dissertation, tutors and educational managers in other contexts can create learning environments that are inclusive and offer students opportunities to understand and value linguistic and cultural differences instead of simply imitating native speakers. The findings of this research showed that the implementation of IC development in English language courses could foster learner autonomy. For instance, due to the lack of time and the diverse issues and topics to be discussed in the class, it was impossible for all of the tutors to cover all of the relevant topics. Nonetheless, the interviewees in one course showed greater independence and seemed to further their knowledge and skills beyond the bounds of the course. Finally, several results of the research can be transferable to other educational settings, and many of the practices described in this dissertation may be used for designing foreign language university training programmes at different levels with an emphasis on developing the students' IC.

Suggestions for future research

Considering the limitations mentioned above, a later study could assess how IC development is integrated into content-based language development courses. This could prove to be a fruitful area of research into how course tutors perceive the implementation of IC development in their courses. In addition, since students in the teacher training programme underlined the importance of integrating IC into their teaching practice, further and more detailed information about how IC development is included in methodology courses could yield rich data regarding the impact of IC promotion in the teacher training programme. This could be carried out using classroom observations and interviews with the course tutors and students.

A few courses were held online due to the Covid-19 pandemic, and it was found that course tutors did not use the same platforms to teach their students. One tutor used a non-synchronous platform, while other tutors preferred synchronous ones. This shows that courses featuring cultural and intercultural content can be taught online. A further study could examine the effectiveness of using online platforms to develop students' IC.

A follow-up tracer study to investigate how the students observed in this research go on to use the IC that they developed in their courses would also provide useful insight. The results of such research could be used to improve the course contents used in the programme as well as the teaching methods and approaches used in the courses that aim to develop students' IC.

A list of the publications connected to the topic of the dissertation

Talbi, M. (2022). Developing intercultural communicative competence in three courses with cultural content in a BA in English programme at a Hungarian university. In K. Smith (Eds.), *Inquiry as a Bridge in Teaching and Teacher Education. NAFOL 2022* (pp. 85– 103). Fagbokforlaget. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.55669/oa1204</u>

- Talbi, M. (2021). Teaching intercultural communicative competence in degree programmes in English as a foreign language: Stakeholders' views. In T. E. Gráczi & Z. Ludányi (Eds.), Doktoranduszok tanulmányai az alkalmazott nyelvészet köréből 2021. Nyelvtudományi Kutatóközpont. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.18135/Alknyelvdok.2021.15.15</u>.
- Talbi, M. (2020). Developing intercultural communicative competence within the framework of a university language course: The case of English studies programme in Hungary. *WoPaLP*, 14, 55–79.

References

- Abid, N. (2012). Intercultural language learning in Tunisian textbooks for EFL learners: 6th, 7th, 8th and 9th form basic education pupils as a case study [Doctoral dissertation, Université de Sfax & Université de Lorraine]. http://docnum.univ-lorraine.fr/public/DDOC_T_2012_0383_ABID.pdf.
- Abid, N., & Moalla. A. (2019). The promotion of the good intercultural speaker through intercultural contacts in a Tunisian EFL textbook. Language and Intercultural Communication, 1–13. DOI: 10.1080/14708477.2019.1676765.
- Addar, F., & Bagui, H. (2020). Promoting students' intercultural communicative competence through English literary texts: Students' attitudes and teachers' challenges. Arab World English Journal, 11(2), 85–93. DOI: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.24093/awej/vol11no2.7</u>.
- Adler, P. (1976). Beyond cultural identity: Reflections on cultural and multicultural man. In L. Samovar & R. Porter (Eds.), *Intercultural communication: A reader* (pp. 389-408). Wadsworth.
- Agar, M. (1994). Culture signified. In M. Agar (Ed.), *Language shock: Understanding the culture of conversation* (pp. 61-72). William Morrow.
- Aitkin, D. (2005). Who are we, and what are we becoming? In D. Aitkin (Ed.), *What was it all for? The reshaping of Australia* (pp. 213-234). Allen & Unwin.
- Aleksandrowicz-Pędich, L., Draghicescu, J., Issaiass, D., & Šabec, N. (2003). The views of teachers of English and French on intercultural communicative competence in language teaching. In I. Lázár (Ed.), *Incorporating intercultural communicative competence in language teacher education* (pp. 7-37). Council of Europe.
- Allocca, K. (2018). Videocracy. Bloomsbury.
- Althen, G. & Bennett, J. (2011). American values and assumptions. In G. Althen & J. Bennett (Eds.), *American ways: A cultural guide to the United States* (pp. 3-26). Intercultural Press.
- Amery, E. (2021). Challenges in fostering intercultural competencies from the perspectives of stakeholders in a language instruction for newcomers to Canada program. *Interchange*, 52, 57–78.
- Anderson, H. (2018, April 23). Big W follows Aldi in pulling 'racist' T-shirt from shelves following online outcry. *The Canberra Times*. <u>https://www.canberratimes.com.au/story/6146937/big-w-follows-aldi-in-pulling-racist-t-shirt-from-shelves-following-online-outcry/</u>.
- Anderson, H. (2020, August 30). Heathcliff and literature's greatest love story are toxic. *BBC Culture*. https://www.bbc.com/culture/article/20180725-heathcliff-and-literatures-greatest-love-story-are-toxic.

Anderson, E., & White, A. (Eds.). (2017). Sport, theory and social problems. Routledge.

- Archer, C. M. (1986). Culture bump and beyond. In J. M. Valdes (Ed.), *Culture bound* (pp. 170-178). Cambridge University Press.
- Atay, D., Kurt, G., Çamlibel, Z., Ersin, P., & Kaslioglu, Ö. (2009). The role of intercultural competence in foreign language teaching. *Inonu University Journal of the Faculty of Education*, *10*(3), 123–135.
- Bachner, D. (2001). An administrator's perspective: The development of the first-year intercultural experience. In D.
 Bachner, L. Malone & M. Snider (Eds.), *Learning interdependence: A case study of the international/intercultural education of first-year college students* (25-39). University of South Carolina.
- Baltaci, H., & Tanis, S. (2018). The place of culture in EFL classes: Perceptions and challenges of pre-service and inservice English teachers. *International Journal of Languages' Education and Teaching*, 6(2), 260–272. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.18298/ijlet.2975</u>.
- Barna, L. M. (1997). Stumbling blocks in intercultural communication. In L. A. Samovar & R. E. Porter, *Intercultural communication: A reader* (8th ed., pp. 337-346). Wadsworth Publishing.
- Barrett, M., Byram, M., Lázár, I., Mompoint-Gaillard, P., & Philippou, S. (2014). *Developing intercultural competence through education*. Council of Europe.
- BBC. (2011, January 24). Jacob Rees, Mogg MP, Posh and Posher: Why public-school boys run Britain, Preview [video]. YouTube. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=crjoi8hCgjg</u>.
- Bennett, M. (1986). A developmental approach to training for intercultural sensitivity. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 10(2), 179–196.
- Bennett, M. (1993). Towards ethnorelativism: A developmental model of intercultural sensitivity. In R. M. Paige (Ed.), *Education for the intercultural experience* (pp. 21-71). Intercultural Press.
- Bennett, M. (1997). How not to be a fluent fool: Understanding the cultural dimension of language. In A. F. Fantini (Ed.), *New ways in teaching culture* (pp. 16-21). TESOL.
- Bennett, M. (1998). Transition shock: Putting culture shock in perspective. In M. J. Bennett (Ed.), *Basic concepts of intercultural communication: Selected readings* (pp. 215-223). Intercultural Press.
- Bennett, M., & Bennett, J. (2004). Developing intercultural sensitivity: An integrative approach to global and domestic diversity. In D. Landis, J. Bennett & M. Bennett (Eds.), *The handbook of intercultural training* (pp.147-163). Sage Publishing.
- Bentancourt, J. R., & Cervantes, M. (2009). Cross-cultural medical education in the United States: Key principles and experiences. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci*, 25(9), 471–478.
- Berger, A. (Ed.). (2015). Ads, fads, and consumer culture. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Betts, R. (2004). A history of popular culture: More of everything, faster and brighter. Routledge.
- Blanchard, J. (2018, September 3). Playbook Roadtrip: Notes from Beyond Westminster. Politico. <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/notes-from-beyond-westminster/</u>.
- Bolinger, D. (1980). Language: The loaded weapon. Longman.
- Borghetti, C. (2013). Integrating intercultural and communicative objectives in the foreign language class: A proposal for the integration of two models. *The Language Learning Journal*, 41(3), 254–267, DOI: 10.1080/09571736.2013.836344.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.

- Brooks-Lewis, K. A. (2014). Adult learners' perceptions of the significance of culture in foreign language teaching and learning. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 2(2), 9–19. https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v2i2.250.
- Broome, R. (1982). Aboriginal Australians: Black responses to White dominance 1788-1994. Allen & Unwin.
- Brown, H. D. (1986). Learning a Second Culture. In J. M. Valdes (Ed.), *Culture bound* (pp. 33-48). Cambridge University Press.
- Brown, H. D. (2000). Principles of language learning and teaching. Pearson Education.
- Brown, D. J. (2005). Conversations on the edge of the Apocalypse. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Byram, M. (1997). Teaching and assessing intercultural communicative competence. Multilingual Matters.
- Byram, M., Gribkova, B., & Starkey, H. (2002). *Developing the intercultural dimension in language teaching: A practical introduction for teachers*. Council of Europe.
- Byram, M., & Morgan, C. (1994). Teaching and learning language and culture. Multilingual Matters.
- Canale, M. (1983). From communicative competence to communicative language pedagogy. In J. Richards & R. Schmidt (Eds.), *Language and communication* (pp. 2-29). Addison Wesley Longman.
- Canale, M., & Swain, M. (1980). Theoretical bases of communicative approach to second language teaching and testing. *Applied Linguistics*, 1(1), 1–47.
- Candappa, R. (2007). Rules Britannia: The 101 essential questions of Britishness answered. Ebury Press.
- Captain, A. J., & Wharton, R. N. (n.d.). *Captain Cook's journal during his first voyage round the world made in H. M. Bark "Endeavour", 1768-71* [ebook edition]. Elliot Stock. <u>https://gutenberg.net.au/ebooks/e00043.html</u>.
- Cardinal, H. (1992). A Canadian what the hell it's all about. In D. D. Moses & T. Goldie (Eds.), An anthology of Canadian native literature in English (pp. 188-194). Oxford University Press.
- Cattaneo, P. (Director). (1997). The Full Monty [Film]. Redwave Films; Channel Four Films.
- Chaney, J. (2016, October 24). It's 2016. Why are we still obsessed with the '80s? *Vulture*. https://www.vulture.com/2016/10/2016-why-are-we-obsessed-with-the-80s.html.
- Chinh, N. (2013). Cultural diversity in English language teaching: Learners' voices. *English Language Teaching*, 6(4), 1–7. DOI:10.5539/elt.v6n4p1.
- Chiper, S. (2015). Intercultural communication in business schools: What we can teach and how we can evaluate. *Proceedia Economics and Finance*, 20, 119–124.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2018). Research methods in education (8th ed.). Routledge.
- Cole. B., Perkins, R., Nowra, L. (Writers), & Cole. B., Nowra, L. (Directors) (2008, October 12). We are no longer shadows (Episode 7) [Tv series episode]. In D. Dale & R. Perkins (Executive Producers), *First Australians*. Blackfella Films.
- Connor, U. (1996). Contrastive rhetoric. Cambridge University Press.
- Condon, J. C. (1986). So near the United States. In J. M. Valdes (Ed.), *Culture bound* (pp. 85-93). Cambridge University Press.
- Cooke, L. (Director). (2011, May 10). Tony Robinson down under (Episode 2) [Tv series episode]. In D. Talbot & S. Gilmartin (Executive Producer), *Tony Robinson explores Australia*. WTFN Entertainment Pty Ltd; West Park Pictures.

- Cordell, M., & Murray, N (Executive Producers). (2011–2018). Go back to where you came from [TV series]. CJZ; Cordell Jigsaw Productions.
- Council of Europe. (2001). Common European framework of reference for languages: Learning, teaching, assessment. Council of Europe.
- Council of Europe. (2008). White paper on intercultural dialogue: Living together as equals in dignity. Council of Europe.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative and quantitative approaches (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Damen, L. (1987). Culture learning: The fifth dimension in the language classroom. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Dampier, W. (1999). A new voyage around the world: 1688. Hummingbird Press.

Datesman, M., Crandall, J., & Kearny., E. (2014). American ways: An introduction to American culture. Pearson.

Davis, J. (1982). Kullark (home)/The dreamers. Currency Press Pty.

- Davis, J. (1986). No sugar. Currency Press Pty.
- Deardorff, D. K. (2004). The identification and assessment of intercultural competence as a student outcome of internationalization at institutions of higher education in the United States [Doctoral dissertation, North Carolina State University]. <u>http://repository.lib.ncsu.edu/ir/bitstream/1840.16/5733/1/etd.pdf</u>.
- Deardorff, D. (2020). Manual for developing intercultural competencies: Story circles. UNESCO.
- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (2018). Handbook of qualitative research (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Department of English Language Pedagogy. (n.d.). Retrieved March 29, 2022, from http://delp.elte.hu/index.htm.
- Dignen, B., & Chamberlain, J. (2009). 50 ways to improve your intercultural skills in English. Summertown Publishing.
- Dörnyei, Z. (2007). Research methods in applied linguistics. Oxford University Press.
- Eagly, A., & Chaiken, S. (2007). The advantages of an inclusive definition of attitude. *Social Cognition*, 25(5), 582–602. DOI: 10.1521/soco.2007.25.5.582.
- Edwards, L. H. (2013). The triumph of reality TV: The revolution in American television. Praeger.
- Edwards, W. H. (1988). An introduction to Aboriginal Societies. Social Science Press.
- Eken, D. T. (2015). Intercultural communicative competence: EFL teachers' beliefs and practices. *Journal of Teaching and Education*, 4(3), 63–71.
- Enyedi, Á. (2000). Culture shock in the classroom. NovELTy, 7(1), 4–16.
- Fantini, A. (1997). New ways in teaching culture. TESOL
- Fantini, A. (2000). A central concern: Developing intercultural competence. SIT Occasional Papers Series: Addressing Intercultural Education, Training & Service, 25–42.
- Fantini, A., & Tirmizi, A. (2006). Exploring and assessing intercultural competence. *World Learning Publications*, 1–74.

Finkelstein, J. (2007). The art of self-invention: Image and identity in popular visual Culture. I.B. Tauris & Co Ltd.

- Fiske, J., & Hartley, J. (2003). Reading television. Routledge.
- Flanagan, R. (2020, January 3). Australia is committing climate suicide. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/03/opinion/australia-fires-climate-change.html.
- Flood, J. (2006). Resilience. In J. Flood (Ed.), *The original Australians: Story of the Aboriginal people* (pp. 234-264). Allen & Unwin.
- Ford, S., De Kosnik, A., & Harrington, L. (2011). Introduction: The crisis of daytime drama and what it means for the future of television. In S. Ford, A. De Kosnik & L. Harrington. *The survival of soap opera: Transformations for a new media era* (pp. 3-21). University Press of Mississippi.
- Friedman, V. J., & Antal, A. B. (2005). Negotiating reality: A theory of action approach to intercultural competence. *Management Learning*, *36*(1), 69–86.
- Gastil, R. D. (1990). Cultural regions of America. In L. S. Luedtke (Ed.), *Making America: The society and culture of the United States* (pp.121-132). The University of North Carolina Press.
- Gibson, B., & Hua, Z. (2016). Interviews. In Z. Hua (Ed.), *Research methods in intercultural communication: A practical guide* (pp. 181-195). Wiley Blackwell.
- Gopal, A. (2011). Internationalization of higher education: Preparing faculty to teach cross-culturally. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 23(3), 373–381.
- Gu, X. (2016). Assessment of intercultural communicative competence in FL education: A survey on EFL teachers' perception and practice in China. *Language and Intercultural Communication*, 16(2), 254 –273. DOI: 10.1080/14708477.2015.1083575.
- Hall, E. T. (1959). The silent language. Fawcett Publications.
- Hall, E. T. (1976). Beyond culture. Anchor Books.
- Hall, E. T., & Hall, M. R. (1990). Understanding cultural differences. Intercultural Press.
- Halverson, R. J. (1985). Culture and vocabulary acquisition: A proposal. Foreign Language Annals, 18(4), 327-32.
- Hamlyn, M. Jarvis, G. Martin, R. Matthews, L. Morgan, A. O'Neill, P. Rudd, P. Ulm, B. Walker, R (Writers). & Hamlyn, M. Jarvis, G. Matthews, L. Morgan, A. O'Neill, P. Ulm, B. Walker, R (Directors). (1999, March 29). Finding a voice (Episode 23) [Tv series episode]. In M. Hamlyn, C. Oliver & P. Rudd (Executive Producers), *Our century*. Film Australia Limited; Look Film Productions Pty Ltd; National Film and Sound Archive Canberra.
- Hamlyn, M. Jarvis, G. Martin, R. Matthews, L. Morgan, A. O'Neill, P. Rudd, P. Ulm, B. Walker, R (Writers). & Hamlyn, M. Jarvis, G. Matthews, L. Morgan, A. O'Neill, P. Ulm, B. Walker, R (Directors). (1999, March 29). We are Australian (Episode 25) [Tv series episode]. In M. Hamlyn, C. Oliver & P. Rudd (Executive Producers), *Our century*. Film Australia Limited; Look Film Productions Pty Ltd; National Film and Sound Archive Canberra.
- Han, X., & Song, L. (2011). Teacher cognition of intercultural communicative competence in the Chinese ELT context. *Intercultural Communication Studies*, 20(1), 175–192.
- Hancock, M. (2010). More than please and thank you. English Teaching Professional, (70), 49–52.
- Harris, T. (2011, February 17). Australia urges Europe to copy multiculture model. *AFP News*. <u>https://zeenews.india.com/news/world/australia-urges-europe-to-copy-multiculture-model_687887.html</u>.
- Harrison, J. (2019). Stolen (4th ed.). Currency Press.

- Hermessi, T. (2017). An evaluation of the place of culture in English education in Tunisia. In S. Hidri & C. Coombe (Eds.), *Evaluation in foreign language education in the Middle East and North Africa* (pp. 203-220). Springer International Publishing.
- Hickey, J. (Writer), & Grusovin, D., Permezel, B., Hickey, J., Sharkey, R., Weekley, D. (2014, November 18).
 The journey begins (Season 1, Episode 1) [Tv series episode]. In R. Perkins (Executive Producer), *First contact*. Blackfella Films.
- History of Copyright. (2005). *Early writings and the beginning of book printing*. http://www.historyofcopyright.org/pb/wp_27fa9cd0/wp_27fa9cd0.html.
- Hoff, H. (2014). A critical discussion of Byram's model of intercultural communicative competence in the light of bildung theories. *Intercultural Education*, 25(6), 508–517. DOI: 10.1080/14675986.2014.992112.
- Hofstede, G. (1984). National cultures and corporate cultures. In L. A. Samovar & R. E. Porter (Eds.), *Communication between cultures* (pp. 323–338). Wadsworth.
- Hofstede, G. (1994). The business of international business is culture. International Business Review, 3(1), 1-14.
- Holló D. (2019). Kultúra és interkulturalitás a nyelvórán. Károli Gáspár Református Egyetem & L'Harmattan Kiadó.
- Holló, D. (2014). Cultural dimensions and foreign language teaching. In J. Horváth & P. Medgyes, *Studies in honour of Marianne Nikolov* (pp.133-148). Lingua Franca Csoport.
- Holló, D. (2016). Culture(s) through films: Learning opportunities. In D. Jászay & A. Velich (Eds.), *Film & Culture* (pp. 110-123). Higher Education Restructuring Fund.
- Holló, D. (2017). Teaching intercultural communication in English degree programmes: The practitioners' voices. Language World, 70-79.
- Holló, D., & Lázár, I. (1999). The neglected element: Teaching culture in the EFL classroom. *NovELTy*, 7(1). <u>http://ludens.elte.hu/~deal/pages/novelty/htm2/vol71/hollo.htm</u>.
- Houghton, S. A. (2013). Making intercultural communicative competence and identity-development visible for assessment purposes in foreign language education. *The Language Learning Journal*, 41(3), 311–325, DOI: 10.1080/09571736.2013.836348.
- Hymes, D. H. (1972). On communicative competence. In J. B. Pride & J. Holmes (Eds.), *Sociolinguistics* (pp. 269-293). Penguin Books.
- Intellectual Property Rights Office. (2006). A brief history of copyright. http://www.iprightsoffice.org/copyright history/.
- Irishkanova, K., Röcklinsberg, C., Ozolina, O., & Zaharia, I. (2004). Empathy as part of cultural mediation. In G. Zarate, A. Gohard-Radenkovic, D. Lussier & H. Penz (Eds.), *Cultural mediation in language learning and teaching* (pp. 101-131). ECML Publications.
- Jabeen, F., & Shah, S. (2011). The role of culture in ELT: Learners' attitude towards the teaching of target language culture. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 23(4), 604–613.
- Jackson, A. (2013). Legacies. In A. Jackson (Ed.), *The British empire: A very short introduction* (pp. 108-128). Oxford University Press.
- Kahraman, A. (2016). Teachers' and learners' attitudes towards culture and culture learning in a Turkish context. Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies, 12(2), 1–12.
- Kaplan, R. B. (1966). Cultural thought patterns in inter-cultural Education. Language Learning, 16(1&2), 1–20.
- Kellner, D. (n.d.). Cultural Studies and Ethics. https://pages.gseis.ucla.edu/faculty/kellner/papers/CSETHIC.htm.

- Kelly, J. (1990). We are all in the Ojibway circle. In M. Ondaatje (Ed.), *The Faber book of contemporary Canadian short stories* (pp. 579-590). Faber & Faber.
- Kembrey, M. (2014, July 4). Woman launches racist tirade on packed train. *The Sydney Morning Herald*. https://www.smh.com.au/national/nsw/woman-launches-racist-tirade-on-packed-train-20140703-zsui5.html.
- Kecskes, I. (2014). Introduction. In I. Kecskes (Ed.), Intercultural pragmatics (pp. 1-20) Oxford University Press.
- Kortoba, J. A. (2017). Understanding society through popular music. Routledge.
- Kramsch, C. (1993). Context and culture in language teaching. Oxford University Press.
- Kramsch, C. (1998). Language and cultural identity. In H. Widdowson (Ed.), *Language and culture* (pp. 65-77). Oxford University Press.
- Kramsch, C. (2013). Culture in foreign language teaching. *Iranian Journal of Language Teaching Research*, *1*(1), 57–78.
- Kroeber, A. L., & Kluckhohn, C. (1952). Culture: A critical review of concepts and definitions. Vintage Books.
- Kuffert, L. (2003). A commentary on some aspects of Canadian culture. In K. Pryke & W. Soderlund (Eds.), *Profiles of Canada* (pp. 97-115). Canadian Scholar's Press.
- Kural, F., & Bayyurt, Y. (2016). The implementation of an intercultural competence syllabus to prepare study-abroad students for global communication. *Educational Studies*, 42(4), 378–393. DOI: 10.1080/03055698.2016.1195720.
- Lado, R. (1986). How to compare two cultures. In J. M. Valdes (Ed.), *Culture bound* (pp. 52-63). Cambridge University Press.
- Larzén-Östermark, E. (2008). The intercultural dimension in EFL-teaching: A study of conceptions among Finland-Swedish comprehensive school teachers. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 52(5), 527–547. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00313830802346405</u>.
- Lause, K., & Nachbar, J. (1992). Popular culture: An introductory text. Bowling Green State University Popular Press.
- Lázár, I. (2006). The role and status of intercultural communication training in English language teacher education in Hungary [Doctoral dissertation, Eötvös Loránd Tudományegyetem]. http://nevelestudomany.phd.elte.hu/doktori-vedesek/vedesek/2007/phd_lazarildilo.pdf.
- Lázár, I. (2011). Teachers' beliefs about integrating the development of intercultural communicative competence in language teaching: Case studies of Hungarian pre-service English teachers. *ForumSprache*, 5(5), 113–126.
- Lázár, I. (Ed.). (2013). Recognising intercultural competence: What shows that I am interculturally competent? A self-assessment tool. Council of Europe.
- Lázár, I. (2014). EFL learners' intercultural competence development in an international web collaboration project. *The Language Learning Journal*, 43(2), 208–221. DOI: 10.1080/09571736.2013.869941.
- Le Guin, U. K. (1969). The left hand of darkness. Ace Books.
- Levine, D. R., & Adelman, M. B. (1993). *Beyond language: Cross-cultural communication* (2nd ed.). Englewood Cliffs.
- Levine, N. (2019, October 11). Who was the real Freddie Mercury? *BBC Culture*. https://www.bbc.com/culture/article/20191010-who-was-the-real-freddie-mercury.
- Liddicoat, A. J. (2001). Static and dynamic views. The New Zealand Language Teacher, 24, 47-58.

- MacNeil, R., McCrum, R. (Writers), & Ducat, V., Cran, W., Reid, H., J, Pett., Dale, P., South, D. (Producers). (1986, September 22). The Muvver Tongue (Episode 7) [Tv series episode]. In W. Cran (Executive Producer), *The story of English*. British Broadcasting Corporation; MacNeil-Lehrer Productions; Thirteen / WNET.
- Manne, R. (1999). The best Australian essays. Black Inc.
- Maykut, P., & Morehouse, R. (1994). *Beginning qualitative research: A philosophic and practical guide*. The Falmer Press.
- McDonough, J., & McDonough, S. (2014). Research methods for English language teachers. Routledge.
- McKay, S. L. (2002). Teaching English as an international language. Oxford University Press.
- Medgyes, P. (2017). The non-native teacher. Swan Communication.
- Menyhei, Z. (2016). *Developing English majors' intercultural communicative competence in the classroom* [Doctoral dissertation, University of Pécs]. <u>https://pea.lib.pte.hu/bitstream/handle/pea/14601/menyhei-zsofia-phd-2016.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>.
- Meyer, E. (2014). The culture map: Decoding how people think, lead and get things done across cultures. Public Affairs.
- Mikes, G. (1984). How to be a brit: A George Mikes minibus. Penguin Books Ltd.
- Milsted, D. (2003). Brewer's anthology of England & the English. Cassell.
- Ministry of Secondary Education and Training. (1998). Official programme for secondary education. Ministry of Secondary Education and Training.
- Ministry of Secondary Education and Training. (2006). Official programme of teaching English. Ministry of Secondary Education and Training.
- Morain, G. G. (1986). Kinesics and cross-cultural understanding. In J. M. Valdes (Ed.), *Culture bound* (pp. 64-76). Cambridge University Press.
- Moran, P. (2001). Defining culture. In Teaching Culture. In D. Freeman (Ed.), *Perspectives in practice* (pp. 23-31). Heinle & Cengage Learning.
- Morgan, S. (1987). My place. Fremantle Arts Centre Press.
- Morganna, R., Sumardi, S., & Tarjana, S. (2020). Tertiary English students' attitudes towards intercultural language learning. *Indonesian Journal of Applied Linguistics*, 9(3), 657–665. DOI: 10.17509/ijal.v9i3.23216.
- Mutlu, A., & Dollar, Y, K. (2017). Intercultural communicative competence through the eyes of Turkish university students. *International Journal of Curriculum and Instruction*, 9(2), 157–178.
- Nemetz-Robinson, G. L. (1986). *Processes and approaches for foreign language, English as a second language, and bilingual educators*. Prentice-Hall.
- Nichols, B. (2001). Introduction to documentary. Indiana University Press.
- Oakland, J. (2001). National identities. In J. Oakland (Ed.), *Contemporary Britain: A survey with texts* (pp. 68-99). Routledge.
- O'Dowd, R. (2013). The competences of the telecollaborative teacher. *The Language Learning Journal*, 43(2), 1–14. DOI: 10.1080/09571736.2013.853374.
- O'Driscoll, J. (1995). Geography. In J. O'Driscoll (Ed.), Britain: The country and its people: an introduction for learners of English (pp. 31-40). Oxford University Press.
- OECD. (2018). The OECD-PISA global competence framework. OECD

Oliver, P. (2014). Hinduism and the 1960s: The rise of a counter-culture. Bloomsbury.

- Önalan, O. (2005). EFL teachers' perceptions of the place of culture in ELT: A survey study at four universities in Ankara/Turkey. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, 1(2), 215–235.
- Padgett, D. (2016). Qualitative methods in social work Research: Challenges and rewards (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Patel, B. (Executive Producer). (1977-1987). *Mind your language* [TV series]. Companies London; Weekend Television.
- Paxman, J. (2007). The English: A portrait of a people. Abrams Press.
- Peiser, G., & Jones, M. (2013) The significance of intercultural understanding in the English modern foreign languages curriculum: A pupil perspective. *The Language Learning Journal*, 41(3), 340–356, DOI: 10.1080/09571736.2013.836350.
- Pilkington, D. (1996). Follow the rabbit proof fence. University of Queensland Press.
- Pinto, S. (2018). Intercultural competence in higher education: Academics' perspectives. On the Horizon. DOI:10.1108/OTH-02-2018-0011.
- Planken, B., Van Hooft, A., & Korzilius, H. (2004). Promoting intercultural communicative competence through foreign language courses. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 67(3), 308–315. DOI: 10.1177/1080569904268095.
- Polyák, I. (2004). Cross-cultural communication. Perfekt.
- Porto, M. (2013). A model for describing, analysing and investigating cultural understanding in EFL reading settings. *The Language Learning Journal*, *41*(3), 284–296, DOI: 10.1080/09571736.2013.836346.
- Prescott, F. J. (2011). Validating a long qualitative interview schedule. WoPaLP, 5, 16–38.
- Rice-Oxley, M. (2018, May 14). Grenfell: The 72 victims, their lives, loves and losses. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/may/14/grenfell-the-71-victims-their-lives-loves-and-losses.
- Ro, C. (2018, October 15). Around the world in 80 words. *BBC Culture*. <u>https://www.bbc.com/culture/article/20181015-what-dogs-have-to-do-with-geopolitical-tensions</u>.
- Ro, C. (2019, September 14). Agatha Christie shaped how the world sees Britain. *BBC Culture*. <u>https://www.bbc.com/culture/article/20180907-agatha-christie-shaped-how-the-world-sees</u> <u>britain#:~:text=Christie%20is%20also%2C%20by%20leaps,English%20people%20through%20her%2C%2</u> 0too.
- Rousseau, J. J. (2017). The Social Contract (J. Bennett, Trans.). Free Press. (Original Work Published 1762).
- Ruhly, S. (1976). Orientation to intercultural communication. Science Research, Inc.
- Rymer, J. (Director). (2004). Punished not protected [Film]. Rymer Bayly Watson Pty Ltd.
- Saban, S., & Curtis, D. (Directors). (2010). Our generation [Film].
- Salem, L. R. (2012). Incorporating intercultural competence in English language teaching in a Lebanese university intensive English program context: An action research project [Doctoral dissertation, University of Leicester].
 <u>https://leicester.figshare.com/articles/thesis/Incorporating_Intercultural_Competence_in_English_Language_Teaching in a Lebanese University Intensive English Program Context An Action Research Project /10168520.</u>
- Samovar, L., Porter, R., & McDaniel, E. (2013). Communication between cultures. Cengage Learning.

- Sercu, L., Bandura, E., Castro, P., Davcheva, L., Laskaridou, C., Lundgren, U., García, M., & Ryan, P. (2005). Foreign language teachers and intercultural competence: An international investigation. Multilingual Matters LTD.
- Silverman, D. (1997). Interpreting qualitative data. Sage Publications.
- Singer, A. (2008). Twenty-first century gateways: An introduction. In A. Singer, S. Hardwick & C, Brettell (Eds.), *Twenty-First century gateways: Immigrant incorporation in suburban America* (pp. 3-10). Brookings Institution Press.
- Singer, M. (1998). Culture: A perceptual approach. In M. Bennett (Ed.), *Basic concepts of intercultural communication* (pp. 97-109). Intercultural Press.
- Smashing English. (2020, December 17). *Learn the English Birmingham accent with the Peaky Blinders* [Video]. YouTube. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TltSgaUR-0A</u>.
- Sobkowiak, P. (2015). Developing students' intercultural competence in foreign language textbooks. US-China Education Review B, 5(12), 794-805. DOI:10.17265/2161-6248/2015.12.003
- Spencer-Oatey, H. (2000). Culturally speaking: Managing rapport through talk across cultures. Continuum.
- Spencer-Oatey, H. (2008). Culturally speaking: Culture, communication and politeness theory. Continuum.
- Spitzberg, B., & Changnon, G. (2009). Conceptualizing intercultural competence. In D. K. Deardorff (Ed.), *The Sage handbook of intercultural competence* (pp. 1-52). Sage Publications.
- Storey, J. (2018). Cultural theory and popular culture: An introduction. Routledge.
- Stromzy. (2017, December 14). *Blinded by your grace pt.2 ft. mnek* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HPuj6UISMhs.
- Tench, W. (1973). A complete account of the settlement at port Jackson. Cambridge University Press.
- Tomalin, B., & Stempleski, S. (1993). Cultural awareness. Oxford University Press.
- Trompenaars, F., & Hampden-Turner, C. (1997). *Riding the waves of culture: Understanding cultural diversity in business*. Nicholas Brealey Publishing.
- UNESCO. (2013). Intercultural competences: Conceptual and operational framework. UNESCO.
- Usó-Juan, E., & Martinez-Flor, A. (2008). Teaching intercultural communicative competence through the four skills. *Revista Alicantina de Estudios Ingleses*, 21, 157–170.
- Utley, D. (2004). Intercultural resource pack: Intercultural communication resources for language teachers. Cambridge.
- Van Ek, J. A. (1986). Objectives for foreign language learning. Council of Europe.
- Wang, W. (Director). (1993). The Joy luck club [Film]. Hollywood Pictures.
- Weinstock, J. A. Introduction. In J. A. Weinstock (Ed.), *Taking South Park seriously* (pp. 1-14). State University of New York Press.
- Willems, G. M. (2002). Language teacher education policy promoting linguistic diversity and intercultural communication. Council of Europe.
- Williams, R. (1983). Culture. In R. Williams (Ed.), *Keywords: A vocabulary of culture and society* (pp.87-93). Oxford University Press.
- Windschuttle, K. (2003). Rabbit-proof Fence: A true story? The New Criterion, 21(7), 12-16.

- Wolfson, N. (1986). Compliments in cross-cultural perspective. In J. M. Valdes (Ed.), Culture bound (pp. 112–120). Cambridge University Press.
- Worawong, K., Charttrakul, K., & Damnet, A. (2017). Promoting intercultural competence of Thai university students through role-play. *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, 8(6), 37–43. DOI: 10.7575/aiac.alls.v.8n.6p.37.
- Xiao, H., & Petraki, E. (2007). An Investigation of Chinese students' difficulties in intercultural communication and its role in ELT. *Journal of Intercultural Communication*, (13). https://www.immi.se/intercultural/nr13/petraki.htm.
- Yang, L., & Fleming, M. (2013). How Chinese college students make sense of foreign films and TV series: Implications for the development of intercultural communicative competence in ELT. *The Language Learning Journal*, 41(3), 297–310, DOI: 10.1080/09571736.2013.836347.
- Young, T., & Sachdev, I. (2011). Intercultural communicative competence: Exploring English language teachers' beliefs and practices. *Language Awareness*, 20(2), 81–98.
- Yu, H. (2011). Integrating intercultural communication into an engineering communication service class tutorial. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, 54(1), 83–96. DOI: 10.1109/TPC.2010.2099830
- Yu, H. (2012). A study of engineering students' intercultural competence and its implications for teaching. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, 55(2), 185–201.
- Zubrycki, R. (Director). (1989). Marrickville [Film].